In the

Supreme Court

State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 2 2 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

NEWPORT HARBOR VENTURES, LLC, et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

MORRIS CERULLO WORLD EVANGELISM et al.. Defendants and Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION OF THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, CASE NO. G052660 ORANGE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. 30-2013-00665314 HONORABLE DEBORAH C. SERVINO

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

These two issues were presented in Appellants' petition for review, which the Supreme Court granted without limitation:

- 1. Can an anti-SLAPP motion strike any claim in an amended complaint, or can it only strike new claims which appear for the first time in the amended complaint?
- 2. When a plaintiff pleads inconsistent claims and undisputed evidence precludes one of those claims, should courts apply a demurrer-like pleading standard allowing inconsistent claims to survive an anti-SLAPP motion, or should they apply a summary judgment-like standard that precludes inconsistent claims?

Rule 8.520(b)(2)(B).

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case asks the Court to determine whether an anti-SLAPP motion is nothing more than a demurrer attached to a discovery stay, or if it is instead the equivalent of an early motion for summary judgment, as the statute's language and legislative history imply. There is a threshold issue, as well: The anti-SLAPP statute states that a motion must be filed within 60 days of service of the complaint it targets, but what is unclear is whether that motion may target all the claims in an amended pleading, or just the newly added claims. This Court's decision in Baral v. Schnitt holds that the anti-SLAPP motion may target "particular allegations" in a complaint, regardless of how they are phrased. Baral v. Schnitt (2016), 1 Cal. 5th 376, 393-394. Accordingly, the Fourth District's decision below, which allows a motion to target only the newly added legal theories of recovery, conflicts with Baral v. Schnitt, not to mention several intermediate appellate decisions and the statute itself, which is to be "construed broadly". Code of Civ. Proc. §425.16(a). This Court should follow that mandate from the Legislature and hold that a motion filed within 60 days of an amended

complaint may target *any* claims in that complaint that arise from the right to petition, and that any claims in conflict with the undisputed evidence must be stricken. To accomplish this, the Court should also reaffirm *Baral*'s holding that the term "claims" includes particular allegations, legal theories of recovery, or even individual sentences which seek to impose liability for the defendant's exercise of the right of petition.

In the trial court, Defendants-Appellants¹ filed an anti-SLAPP motion targeting four causes of action in Plaintiffs'-Respondents'² third amended complaint. Two of those causes of action (breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith) had appeared in the original complaint, while the other two (quantum meruit, promissory estoppel) appear for the first time in the third amended complaint. The anti-SLAPP motion was filed within 60 days of the third amended complaint – but more than three years after the original complaint. The trial court declined to consider the motion on its merits, finding that the whole thing was untimely. On appeal, Appellants argued that *Yu v. Signet Bank* gives a defendant the absolute right to file an anti-SLAPP motion within 60 days of an amended pleading, even if some of the claims in that pleading were first pleaded years earlier. *Yu v. Signet Bank/Virginia* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 298, 313, 315. In the published decision below, the Fourth District Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with *Yu v. Signet Bank*, and held that the motion was untimely.

¹ Morris Cerullo World Evangelism, Inc., and Roger Artz and Lynn Hodge, as trustees of the Plaza Del Sol Real Estate Trust, are the defendants in the trial court, appellants in the intermediate court of appeal, and petitioners/appellants in this Court. This brief will refer to them collectively as "Appellants".

² Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC and Vertical Media Group, Inc. are the plaintiffs in the trial court, respondents in the intermediate court of appeal, and respondents in this Court. This brief will refer to them collectively as "Respondents."

even though it was filed within 60 days – at least insofar as it targeted the two causes of action based in contract, which had appeared in earlier pleadings in some form. The court nevertheless held that the motion could timely challenge the two newly pleaded causes of action for promissory estoppel and quantum meruit, and evaluated the motion on its merits as to those claims.

In doing so, the appellate court departed from Yu v. Signet Bank and Lam v. Ngo, narrowing the anti-SLAPP statute in the process. To justify the departure, the Fourth District discounts the holding of Yu v. Signet Bank and relies instead on dicta from Hewlett-Packard v. Oracle Corp. (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 1174, 1192 fn. 11. Hewlett-Packard, in a footnote, noted that the anti-SLAPP statute was enacted to dispose of claims at an early stage in litigation. The court mused that a rule "properly tailored" to that objective "would permit an amended pleading to extend or reopen the [60day] time limit only as to newly pleaded causes of action arising from protected conduct." Hewlett-Packard, supra, at 1192 fn. 11 (emphasis in original). Relying on that footnote's musings about the policy behind the anti-SLAPP statute, and disagreeing with Yu and the statute's plain language, the court below held that the motion was untimely as to the first two causes of action. In other words, the Fourth District held that Hewlett-Packard's eleventh footnote was not merely wistful pining for a better rule. it was a rule, despite Yu's holding to the contrary. Yu v. Signet Bank provides the better rule because it comports with the plain language of the statute, which does not limit the motion's purview to newly added claims. The statute says "The special motion may be filed within 60 days of the service of the complaint", with no qualifying language restricting the claims it may target. Code Civ. Proc. §425.16(f). The service of a "complaint" - not any particular claims within the complaint - is what reopens that 60-day period. This interpretation also comports with Baral v.

Schnitt, which allows an anti-SLAPP motion to target individual allegations in a pleading, regardless of how those allegations are organized into legal claims. Baral v. Schnitt, (2016) 1 Cal.5th 376, 393-394 (holding that anti-SLAPP motion, "like a conventional motion to strike" may challenge "particular allegations" within a pleading).

This appeal also asks the Court to reverse the Fourth District's decision to deny the motion on its merits as to the causes of action for quantum meruit and promissory estoppel. On the second, "merits" prong of the anti-SLAPP motion, Appellants should have prevailed because the existence of a contract covering the same topic as the "quasi-contracts" defeats those quasi-contract claims as a matter of law. A valid contract means there was an exchange of consideration, and consideration is fatal to promissory estoppel and quantum meruit claims. The existence of a contract is therefore itself fatal to such claims. But the Fourth District denied the anti-SLAPP motion targeting those quasi-contract claims, despite the existence of a contract, on the rationale that a plaintiff may "plead inconsistent counts". Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC v. Morris Cerullo World Evangelism (2016), 6 Cal.App.5th 1207, 1222-1223. Although a plaintiff cannot recover on both contract and quasi-contract claims, the Fourth District insisted that inconsistent claims can be pleaded, and that such pleadings survive an anti-SLAPP motion despite countervailing evidence. It characterized Appellants' anti-SLAPP motion as an attempt to force the plaintiffs (Respondents) to elect a remedy at the pleading stage, rather than as a test of the factual support for each cause of action. The court held: "Nothing in the anti-SLAPP statute required [Plaintiffs-Respondents] to make an election between the breach of contract and quantum meruit causes of action in response to the anti-SLAPP motion." Id. In so holding, the panel cited decisions allowing a plaintiff to plead inconsistent claims in the alternative, while also citing a decision

holding a plaintiff "cannot recover for both breach of contract and quantum meruit." *Id.* (citing *Mendoza v. Continental Sales Co.* (2006) 140 Cal.App. 4th 1395, 1402; *Crowley v. Katleman* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 666, 691; *Hedging Concepts, Inc. v. First Alliance Mortgage Co.*, supra, 41 Cal.App. 4th 1419-1420). None of these cited cases addressed the pleading standard on an anti-SLAPP motion, however.

The panel's reliance on these cases was misplaced. Although filed at the "pleading" stage, an anti-SLAPP motion is not subject to the same standard as a demurrer, where a plaintiff may plead inconsistent claims. The anti-SLAPP motion requires a plaintiff to provide evidentiary support for each claim; if evidence supports one of two inconsistent claims, the claim defeated by the evidence should be stricken. To hold otherwise would neuter the anti-SLAPP motion, rendering it little more than a demurrer with a discovery stay attached.

Appellants respectfully request this Court reverse the decision of the Fourth Appellate District and issue two holdings: 1) an anti-SLAPP motion filed within 60 days of the pleading it targets may strike any allegations in those pleadings, consistent with *Baral v. Schnitt* and *Yu v. Signet Bank*, and 2) inconsistent claims cannot survive an anti-SLAPP motion when evidence defeats one of those claims.

III. BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Appellants sublease the Subject Property to Newport Harbor Offices & Marina

Appellant Morris Cerullo World Evangelism ("MCWE") is the sublandlord and sublessor of an office building and marina in Newport Beach, California ("Subject Property"). Volume 1 of Clerk's Transcript at pp. 124125³. Appellant Roger Artz, as trustee of the Plaza Del Sol Real Estate Trust ("Plaza"), subleased the Subject Property from MCWE until 2004. Appellant Lynn Hodge is another trustee of Plaza. The fee owner of the Subject Property is a trust operated by John Jakosky ("Jakosky"), who serves as lessor to MCWE under a Ground Lease that has been amended several times. 2 CT 341. Since 2004, the Subject Property's primary sublessee has been Newport Harbor Offices & Marina, LLC ("NHOM"), a company with a history of failing to maintain and repair the property. 1 CT 135.

B. Appellants execute a management agreement, hiring Respondents to manage the Subject Property.

On March 3, 2011, Respondent Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC ("NHV") entered into a property management agreement with Appellants ("Management Agreement"). 1 CT 135-149. In exchange for Appellant MCWE promising to introduce Respondent NHV to Jakosky to request an extension of the Ground Lease, Respondent NHV agreed to perform property management duties. According to the Management Agreement, "all costs" of those management duties "shall be borne by NHV." 1 CT 138. In addition, Respondent "NHV shall be responsible for the costs of an Unlawful Detainer action (or actions) together with customary defenses thereto and no other litigation." *Id.* NHV also agreed to "perform all duties normally associated with the administration of a sublease by the master lessor," which included monitoring the property, enforcing the ground lease and sublease, and serving notices of default on tenants. 1 CT 136-173.

Respondent NHV and Appellants mutually agreed to modify the Management Agreement on April 22, 2011 ("Modification"), whereby

³ Future references to the Clerk's Transcript will appear in the format "[Volume number] CT [page number]:[line or paragraph number].

Respondent Vertical Media Group, Inc. ("Vertical Media") "would act as the Asset Manager in place of NHV." 1 CT 147. The Modification stated that "[Vertical Media] will act in the place and stead of NHV in the capacity as Asset Manager, under the terms of the [Management Agreement] dated March 3, 2011, with NHV continuing to have all rights and obligations set forth in said prior agreement. All other terms of said prior agreement remain the same." 1 CT 147. Appellant MCWE made no promises and had no agreement with Respondents as to what would happen to the Subject Property after any unlawful detainer action against the sublessee. 2 CT 427:16-21, 428:5-6.

C. Respondents file an unlawful detainer action in MCWE's name against the sublessee, and MCWE settles the action.

The sublessee, NHOM, was not maintaining or repairing the Subject Property, so Respondents began the unlawful detainer process through service of "notices to cure" defaults beginning on April 22, 2011. 3 CT 613-655. The tenant did not cure, so Respondents, acting as property manager, filed an unlawful detainer action in Appellant MCWE's name on June 21, 2011 in the Superior Court for the County of Orange in *MCWE v. Newport Harbor Offices & Marina, LLC*, case number 30-2011-00485656 ("UD Action"). 1 CT 76:24-77:1; 1 CT 127:4-8.

On August 15, 2012, Appellant MCWE signed an agreement to settle the UD Action. 3 CT 881-882.

D. Respondents file this lawsuit for breach of contract.

Respondents filed this lawsuit against Appellants on July 29, 2013. 1 CT 4. They filed a first amended complaint on December 16, 2013 (1 CT 9), a second amended complaint on March 28, 2014 (1 CT 12), and a third amended complaint on June 24, 2015. 1 CT 43.

In the original complaint, drafted on a judicial council form, Respondents allege three causes of action: breach of contract and two untitled "intentional torts" with allegations substantively identical to the breach of contract claim. Appellants allegedly "granted contract rights and settled unlawful detainer action without P's consent in breach of [the written Management] Agreement." Exhibit A to Respondents' Motion to Augment Record ("R.M⁴.") at p. 1-5. The original complaint contains no claims for quantum meruit or promissory estoppel, and no allegations that Appellants MCWE, Artz, or Hodge made any oral promises. *Id*.

Respondents' first amended complaint alleges six causes of action, including claims for breach of the written Management Agreement. R.M. at pp. 22-34. The first amended complaint alleges that Appellants failed to reimburse Respondents for the costs of managing the Subject Property, and breached the Management Agreement by "going behind [Respondents'] backs and by settling The Litigation by signing The Settlement Agreement on August 15, 2012...without Plaintiffs' and Dennis D'Alessio's knowledge...." R.M. at p. 27. There were no claims in the first amended complaint for quantum meruit or promissory estoppel, and no allegations that Appellants MCWE, Roger Artz, or Lynn Hodge made any oral promises. *Id*.

The second amended complaint asserts claims for breach of the Management Agreement, breach of the covenant of good faith, and fraud, based on the same allegations as the first amended complaint. R.M. at p.55-66. No oral promises or claims for quantum meruit or promissory estoppel appear in the second amended complaint.

Quasi-contract claims and allegations about oral promises appear only in the third amended complaint, which states four causes of action:

⁴ In the Fourth District, Respondents filed a motion to augment the record. Their motion was granted. Future references to the portion of the appellate record supplemented by Exhibit A to Respondents' Motion to Augment the Record will be referred to as "R.M. at [page number]".

breach of the written Management Agreement, breach of the covenant of good faith inherent in the Management Agreement, quantum meruit for reimbursement of the costs of asset management, and promissory estoppel for reimbursement of those same costs. 1 CT 123-150. All of these causes of action allege, in significant part, that Appellants harmed Respondents by entering into a settlement agreement for an unlawful detainer action. Respondents, it seems, had hoped to evict the sub-tenant NHOM and take its place in the Subject Property. They were frustrated when Appellants settled the unlawful detainer instead of seeing it through to trial, and now want to be reimbursed for the costs of asset management, despite the existence of the written Management Agreement, which says Respondents need to bear those costs themselves. When litigating the UD Action and paying its costs, Respondents acted "in reliance on the Management Agreement." 1 CT 126:28, 1 CT 127:8. In the cause of action for quantum meruit, the Third Amended Complaint repeatedly alleges that Respondents acted solely in reliance on the written Management Agreement. 1 CT 131:1-8; 1 CT 131:24-26 ("Defendants have unjustly benefited from the services Plaintiffs performed on Defendants' behalf under the Management Agreement"). The cause of action for promissory estoppel alleges that Respondents acted on oral promises made "during the negotiations of the Management Agreement". 1 CT 132:14-16.

The third amended complaint states that "Each allegation for each cause of action is incorporated by reference in every other cause of action."

1 CT 125¶8. There are no allegations in any of the complaints that the Management Agreement is invalid or lacks consideration.

E. Appellants file an anti-SLAPP motion to strike the third amended complaint.

On July 23, 2015 – 29 days after the third amended complaint was filed – Appellants timely filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings and a special motion to strike Respondents' third amended complaint as a meritless SLAPP under section 425.16 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 2 CT at 301-323. Appellants argued that Respondents' claims are subject to subdivision (e)(1), (e)(2), and (e)(4) of the anti-SLAPP statute because they arise out of Appellants' act of settling the unlawful detainer lawsuit, a quintessential exercise of the constitutionally protected right to petition the government. *Id*.

F. Trial court finds the anti-SLAPP motion "untimely" in its entirety.

On August 28, 2015, a hearing was held on Appellants' special anti-SLAPP motion to strike before the Honorable Judge Deborah Servino. 6 CT 1738. The trial court issued a brief order denying the motion to strike as untimely. 6 CT 1738.

G. On appeal, Fourth District declares anti-SLAPP motion half timely, half untimely.

Appellants timely appealed. The Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division Three, held that the anti-SLAPP motion was untimely insofar as it targeted the counts for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith, since both causes of action could have been targeted when they first appeared in earlier complaints. *Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC v. Morris Cerullo World Evangelism*, (2016), 6 Cal.App.5th 1207. The court also held, however, that the motion was timely filed as to the two new causes of action for quantum meruit and promissory estoppel. But on those quasi-contract claims, the court denied the anti-SLAPP motion on its merits, holding that a plaintiff is entitled to plead inconsistent claims. This

petition followed, which the Supreme Court of California granted on March 22, 2017.

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. Anti-SLAPP motion served within 60 days of an amended complaint may challenge any claims in that complaint, and claims inconsistent with the evidence should be stricken.

An anti-SLAPP motion must be brought within 60 days of service of the complaint it targets. Code Civ. Proc. §425.16(f). A timely filed anti-SLAPP motion is evaluated with a two-step process: "First, the court decides whether the defendant has made a threshold showing that the challenged cause of action is one 'arising from' protected activity. (Code Civ. Proc., §425.16(b)(1). If the court finds such a showing has been made, it then must consider whether the plaintiff has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on the claim." City of Cotati v. Cashman (2002) 29 Cal.4th 69, 76.

This appeal relates to the 60-day deadline in subdivision (f) and the second⁵ prong of the two-step process. Specifically, it asks this Court to hold that an anti-SLAPP motion filed within 60 days of the amended complaint it targets is timely, even if some of the plaintiff's claims had appeared in earlier versions of the complaint. Appellants also ask the Court to hold that when the burden of proof shifts to the plaintiff on the second

⁵ "The first prong of the anti-SLAPP procedure—whether the challenged claims arose from activity protected by section 425.16—is not in dispute. Cerullo and Artz argue the causes of action of the third amended complaint arise out of the act of settling the Unlawful Detainer Action, which is an act in furtherance of their right of petition. (§ 425.16(e).) NHV and VMG do not contend otherwise." *Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC v. Morris Cerullo World Evangelism* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1207, 1220–21.

prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis, claims which are inconsistent with other claims and the evidence cannot survive.

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