CRC 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S239777

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JUL 2 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

NEWPORT HARBOR VENTURES, LLC, et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

Deputy

v.

### MORRIS CERULLO WORLD EVANGELISM, et al., Defendants and Appellants

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three
Court of Appeal Case No. G052660
Orange County Superior Court Case No. 30-2013-00665314
Honorable Deborah C. Servino

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Bradley P. Knypstra (SBN 177901) Grant Hermes (SBN 291822) KNYPSTRA HERMES LLP 18200 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 730 Irvine, CA 92612 Tel: (949) 679-9202 Fax: (949) 679-9088

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

Appellants' failure to timely act has subverted the statutory purpose of the anti-Slapp statute:

By failing to act within this time, a defendant incurs costs—and permits the plaintiff to incur costs—that a timely motion might be able to avert. As these costs accumulate in the course of conventional discovery and motion practice, the capacity of an anti-SLAPP motion to satisfy the statutory purpose diminishes. And as the utility of the motion diminishes, so does the justification for the statute's deviations from more conventional modes of disposition. It is therefore to be expected that every case will come to a point beyond which an anti-SLAPP motion simply cannot perform its intended function. (Hewlett-Packard Co. v. Oracle Corp. (2015) 239 Cal. App. 4th 1174, 1189)

The parties are well beyond the middle of litigation and every available procedural device and dispositive motion to prevent costly, unmeritorious litigation of this lawsuit has been filed by the Appellants and ruled on. This case is ready to be tried before a jury. The pleadings have been well vetted and have proven their merit through a Motion for Summary Judgment and all the evidence presented to the lower court

through countless filings.

In addition to testing the foundation of a meritless lawsuit, "the statutory deadline also seeks to avoid tactical manipulation of the stays that attend anti-SLAPP proceedings." (San Diegans for Open Government, 240 Cal. App. 4th at 624). All that is being accomplished by Appellants' anti-Slapp motion and appeal at this late stage of the litigation is unreasonable delay in presenting this case to a jury.

## c. The 60 day time limit allows Appellants to test the foundation of Respondents' action before having to devote time, energy and resources litigating a "meritless" lawsuit

The proper time to file the anti-Slapp motion would have been no later than September 27, 2013, 60 days after the complaint was filed to test the "foundation" of Respondents' claims and allegations that give rise to the protected conduct, which have been consistently pled in every pleading, before devoting hundreds of hours in law in motion practice, discovery, and motions to compel. The purpose of the 60-day time limitation to file a anti-Slapp motion is to permit the defendant "to test the foundation of the plaintiff's action before having to 'devote its time, energy and resources to combating' a 'meritless' lawsuit." (San Diegans for Open Government, 240 Cal. App. 4th 611, 624 (citing Platypus Wear, Inc. v. Goldberg (2008) 166 Cal. App. 4th 772, 783)). An anti-Slapp motion's statutory purpose cannot be fulfilled "if the parties have already incurred substantial expense preparing the case for a more conventional disposition." (Hewlett-Packard, 239 Cal. App. 4th at 1190). The purpose of these timing requirements is to facilitate the dismissal of meritless actions early in the litigation to minimize the cost to the defendant.

Appellants could have filed their anti-Slapp motion within the first 60 days after the complaint was filed to test the foundation of Respondents'

claims and allegations, but choose not to. Instead, Appellants undertook a costly and highly litigious strategy. The filing of four Demurrers, two Motions to Strike, Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Motion for Summary Judgment, and countless discovery requests that resulted in lengthy meet and confer letters and motions to compel is indicative of a scorched earth litigation strategy. After all of this, only then did Appellants decide to file their anti-Slapp motion "to test the foundation of the plaintiff's action before having to 'devote its time, energy and resources to combating' a 'meritless' lawsuit." (San Diegans for Open Government, 240 Cal. App. 4th at 624).

As we have said, where the parties have already incurred substantial expense and the case has progressed to its later stages, it is almost certain to be too late for the motion to accomplish any legitimate purpose. No showing of blamelessness or justification on the part of the defendant can restore what time has destroyed. All the motion can accomplish is delay. (*Hewlett-Packard Co.*, 239 Cal. App. 4th at 1192).

Appellants were presented with multiple opportunities to file their anti-Slapp motion—after the Complaint, FAC, and SAC was filed. Appellants choose not to avail themselves of the protections the anti-Slapp statutes provide to a defendant who seeks to minimize the time, energy, and resources to combat a "meritless" lawsuit. Instead, Appellants choose to attack each pleading aggressively with law and motion and file multiple dispositive motions, which required a huge evidentiary undertaking to support and oppose. Appellants' litigation strategy should not be rewarded at this late stage of the litigation and all that has been accomplished is unreasonable delay.

d. Baral does not apply to this case as Appellants never asserted their right to file an anti-Slapp motion and the protected conduct has been pled from the start of the lawsuit and continued throughout each amended complaint

Baral is distinguishable from the facts in this case. First, the defendant in that case choose to attack the allegations and causes of action within 60 days of filing the initial complaint. (Baral v. Schnitt (2016) 1 Cal. 5th 376, 383). They then went on and filed another anti-Slapp motion to an amended complaint. (Id.) The defendant in Baral believed that their protected conduct was being unduly burdened by a frivolous litigation and chose to file an anti-Slapp motion. (Id.) The defendant's then continued to avail themselves of the anti-Slapp motion throughout the amended complaints to continue to attack what they believed was a frivolous lawsuit. (Id. at 383-84) At no point did they let the 60 day deadline lapse and waive their right to file this motion. (See Id.)

On the other hand, Appellants could have filed an anti-Slapp motion within 60 days of the initial complaint as that pleading contained the same allegations and facts giving rise to the protected conduct. They could have availed themselves of the protections and expediency of the anti-Slapp motion two months into the litigation to "shield [their] constitutionally protected conduct from the undue burden of frivolous litigation." (*Id.* at 393). Instead, they choose to let the 60 day deadline lapse, file countless demurrers, propound and respond to written discovery, depositions, oppose motions to compel, file motion for judgment on the pleadings, and go through the costly and time consuming process of filing a motion for summary judgment to the SAC.

Only after exhausting all of their litigation tactics to dispose of the

complaint (namely the breach of contract and breach of covenant, which have remained throughout the complaints and supported by the same allegations that are considered the protected conduct), do they attempt to get yet another bite at the apple.

Baral clearly stated that "courts may rule on plaintiffs' specific claims of protected activity, rather than reward artful pleading by ignoring such claims if they are mixed with assertions of unprotected activity." (Id.) This however does not apply to the facts of this case. The specific claims of protected activity have been pled, been at the heart of, and remained the same throughout every complaint. If Appellants wanted to avail themselves of the case law established in Baral, Appellants were required to file an anti-Slapp motion within 60 days after the first time the protected conduct (i.e. – Appellants' act of signing the Settlement Agreement caused Plaintiff to suffer damages) was pled in a complaint on July 29, 2013.

This is not a case where Respondents are utilizing artful pleading and trying to sneak in allegations of protected conduct that were not present in prior complaints, instead this is a case where Appellants are utilizing artful litigation tactics through every imaginable dispositive motion to delay Respondents right to have this case tried before a jury.

## e. The Fourth District's ruling upholds the ruling in *Baral* contrary to Appellants' argument

Appellants are misinterpreting the Fourth District's ruling and how it interacts with the ruling in *Baral*. Appellants state:

After all, the Fourth District held that only "newly added claims" can be stricken from an amended complaint. Excising only the new "claims" - the new legal theories of recovery - would allow allegations of protected activity to remain in the complaint, because those allegations are necessary to support the old claims. This contradicts *Baral v. Schnitt*, which allows an anti-SLAPP motion, "like a conventional motion to

strike," to "attack parts of a count" and "challeng[e] particular allegations within a pleading." *Baral*, supra, 1 Cal. 5th at 393-394. (Opening Brief pp 19-20).

However, the Fourth District held:

An amended complaint reopens the time to file an anti-SLAPP motion without court permission only if the amended complaint pleads new causes of action that could not have been the target of a prior anti-SLAPP motion, or adds new allegations that make previously pleaded causes of action subject to an anti-SLAPP motion. (Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC, 6 Cal. App. 5th at 1219)

The Fourth district's holding reopens the time to file an anti-Slapp motion when new allegations that are protected conduct are added to an amended complaint or cause of action. Unlike Appellants' argument, this ruling does not require the Court to overrule *Baral*, which allowed anti-Slapp motions to strike allegations arising out of the right of petition, regardless of how they are organized in the complaint. The Fourth District specifically states that adding new allegations that make previously pled causes of action subject to anti-Slapp motion reopens the 60 day deadline.

Specifically for this case, allegations of protected activity have not been added to the amended complaints, they have been pled and used to support the causes of action from the initial complaint through the TAC.

II. ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS ARE INTENDED TO WEED OUT,
AT AN EARLY STAGE, AND TEST THE FOUNDATION OF
MERITLESS CLAIMS—NOT CLAIMS THAT ARE
INCONSISTENT AS THIS WOULD BE SEVERELY
PREJUDICIAL TO FORCE RESPONDENT TO MAKE AN
ELECTION OF WHICH CAUSES OF ACTION TO PURSUE
60 DAYS AFTER FILING A COMPLAINT, ESPECIALLY

#### BEFORE ANY DISCOVERY IS CONDUCTED

Unlike a summary judgment motion or trial were a plaintiff has all of the evidence to support the claims it wants to pursue, a plaintiff does not know what evidence will be obtained during discovery and the course of litigation, and what theories of liability will be best supported by the evidence 60 days into the litigation. This is why typically, a complaint starts out with a dozen causes of action and only a few actually get presented at trial and ruled upon by the trier of fact.

Forcing a plaintiff to choose one cause of action over another, if they are inconsistent with one another, at the early stage of litigation when an anti-Slapp motion is brought would serve no purpose, would unduly limit the scope of discovery, and only cause delay. If a plaintiff were forced to elect breach of contract claims over equitable promissory estoppel claims two months into the litigation, then a plaintiff would be forced to seek leave to amend its complaint in the future to add back those equitable promissory claims if the evidence obtained during discovery supported those claims and abandon the breach of contract claims. Then, under Appellants' arguments, they could file another anti-Slapp motion because an amended complaint was filed. This cycle could occur multiples times throughout the litigation. Applying a summary judgment standard over a demurrer standard as Appellants are requesting would simply go way beyond the purpose of an anti-Slapp motion.

The central purpose of anti-Slapp motions are to "screen[] out meritless claims that arise from protected activity, before the defendant is required to undergo the expense and intrusion of discovery." (Baral v. Schnitt (2016) 1 Cal. 5th 376, 392; see Platypus Wear, Inc. v. Goldberg (2008) 166 Cal. App. 4th 772,776 [purpose of anti-SLAPP statute is "ensuring the prompt resolution of lawsuits that impinge on a defendant's free speech rights"]; Kunysz v. Sandler (2007) 146 Cal. App. 4th 1540,

1543 ["the purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute is to dismiss meritless lawsuits designed to chill the defendant's free speech rights at the earliest stage of the case"].

"The court does not weigh evidence or resolve conflicting factual claims. Its inquiry is limited to whether the plaintiff has stated a legally sufficient claim and made a prima facie factual showing sufficient to sustain a favorable judgment. It accepts the plaintiff's evidence as true, and evaluates the defendant's showing only to determine if it defeats the plaintiff's claim as a matter of law. [Citation.] '[C]laims with the requisite minimal merit may proceed.' [Citation.]" (Baral, 1 Cal.5th at 384-385, fn. omitted.)

If the Court does not weigh evidence nor resolve conflicting factual claims, then the Court should similarly not limit the types of claims and whether they legally conflict (i.e. – inconsistent legal and equitable claims). Whether Respondent has one, two, or ten causes of action, they simply need to have the requisite "minimal merit" to proceed. Respondents should not be forced into an election of causes of action at the earliest stages of the case, this would be severely prejudicial and limit Respondents' right to sue, conduct discovery, and pursue valid claims and remedies that individually have "merit" and are viable claims against Appellants. Appellants have other means of limiting and disposing of claims that are inconsistent with one another once the case gets closer to trial or even during trial based on the evidence that gets presented to the trier of fact.

As the Fourth District properly stated "Nothing in the anti-SLAPP statute required NHV and VMG to make an election between the breach of contract and quantum meruit causes of action in response to the anti-SLAPP motion." (Newport Harbor Ventures, LLC, 6 Cal. App. 5th at 1219).

## III. RESPONDENTS CAN SHOW THEY WILL PREVAIL ON ALL CAUSES OF ACTION

a. Respondent VMG already established a probability of success as to the breach of contract and covenant of good faith claims as the court denied Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to these two causes of action

Appellants also ask the Court to consider the second prong of the anti-Slapp motion with respect to the breach of contract and breach of covenant of good faith. Appellants should not get what would be now multiple bites at the apple to attack these allegations and causes of action through an anti-Slapp motion. It is illogical that the "central purpose" of "screening out meritless claims that arise from protected activity, before a defendant is required to undergo the expense and intrusion of discovery" is upheld when these two causes of action have survived countless demurrers, a motion for judgment on the pleadings, and a motion for summary judgment. After a summary judgment motion, the only thing left is to present the same evidence at trial to a jury—not restart the clock and go through the whole "summary-judgment-like procedure" again as you do in the second step of the anti-Slapp process.

As with Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment, which the Court denied on July 31, 2015, the anti-Slapp motion raises the exact same arguments and Appellant's Opening Brief specifically focuses on whether there was a breach of the Asset Management Agreement and whether Respondents suffered any damages. Other issues were raised by Appellants in their anti-Slapp motion and their brief for the Fourth District appeal, such as standing issues and contract illegality, but these are not raised in their Opening Brief and are not addressed in this Brief.

### b. Respondent VMG can establish it suffered damages due to Appellants' breach of the Asset Management Agreement

Appellants attempt to argue that they did not breach the Asset

Management Agreement because the Asset Management Agreement "does
not forbid Appellants from settling the UD Action."

The reason why Respondents agreed to act as MCWE's Asset Manager and pay for all the expenses and costs associated with evicting MCWE's defaulting tenant, NHOM, was to receive an irrevocable option to acquire MCWE's rights under the ground lease as expressly contemplated in the Asset Management Agreement. (4 CT 1065 para. 3-4). After NHOM was evicted, Respondents wanted to take over control of the Property and Improvements and operate a profitable business at the Property. (4 CT 1065 para. 3-4).

Paragraph 18 of the Asset Management Agreement states in part:

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